Biofrontera AG | half-yearly financial report as at 30 June 2014

Contents

Financial developments in the first half of 2014	3
Significant progress in operational business in the first half of 2014	3
Key indicators	4
Biofrontera's financial instruments	5
Consolidated interim management report for the first half of the 2014 financial year	6
Declaration pursuant to section 37y in conjunction with § 37w (2) no. 3 WpHG	23
Consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2014	24
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the first half of 2014	26
Consolidated cash flow statement for the first half of 2014	27
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the first half of 2014	28
Selected notes on the consolidated interim financial statement as at 30 June 2014	29
Editor	38

Financial developments in the first half of 2014

- Successful placement of capital increase of 4,438,292 shares in total. The net revenue from the issue amounted to EUR 15.3 million.
- Further sales growth of 21% in Germany.
- Admission to Prime Standard at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.
- Listing of Biofrontera Shares at the *Alternative Investment Market* (AIM) of the London Stock Exchange.

Significant progress in operational business in the first half of 2014

- Clinical part of the safety trials required by the FDA completed. Clinical part of the phase III trial on broad area therapy of actinic keratosis completed.
- Patient recruitment for phase III trial on basal cell carcinoma is in progress.
- Preparations for FDA approval are in progress, pre-NDA meeting with the FDA has been arranged for early October.
- Conclusion of a licensing agreement for Israel with Perrigo Israel Agencies LTD.
- Conclusion of a licensing agreement for Switzerland and Liechtenstein with Louis Widmer SA.
- Successful market launch of Belixos® Liquid.

Key indicators

 $\label{thm:consolidated} \text{Key consolidated figures for the first half of the 2014 financial year in accordance with IFRS}$

In EUR thousands	6M 2014	6M 2013
Results of operations		
Sales revenue	1,216.5	1,385.2
of which sales in Germany	915.1	755.1
General administrative and operating costs	(3,748.0)	(2,666.4)
Research and development	(2,063.0)	(1,163.5)
Operating profit (EBIT)	(4,851.5)	(3,079.9)
Profit/loss before tax	(5,412.6)	(3,697.8)
Profit/loss after tax	(5,418.7)	(3,697.8)
Cash flow statement		
Cash flow from operating activities	(4,395.2)	(4,397.1)
Cash flow from investment activities	(37.1)	(117.6)
Cash flow from financing activities	13,517.9	8,217.9
Key balance sheet figures		
Total assets	18,174.6	13,226.9
Current liabilities (excluding provisions)	1,055.0	1,127.9
Long-term liabilities	10,889.4	11,802.2
Equity (subscribed capital & capital reserve)	98,541.1	83,383.9
Equity ratio	28.74%	1.11%
Employees as at 30 June	39	37
Biofrontera share	30 June 2014	30 June 2013
Outstanding shares	22,196,570	17,753,168
Share price (Xetra closing price)	2.84	3.60
Dividend in EUR	0.0	0.0

Biofrontera's financial instruments

Key details of the Biofrontera share	
Stock exchanges	Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Berlin, Munich, Stuttgart, Xetra, Tradegate, London, UK (AIM)
WKN (German securities ID number)	604611
ISIN	DE0006046113
Issue price	EUR 15.00
Outstanding shares as at 30 June 2014	22,196,570
6-month high (19 February 2014)*	EUR 4.120
6-month low (26 June 2014)*	EUR 2.500
Closing price 30 June 2014*	EUR 2.839
Market capitalization as at 30 June 2014 *(Price data from Xetra)	EUR 63.02 million

Key details for warrant bond I*	
Stock exchanges	Düsseldorf
WKN (German securities ID number)	A0Z169
ISIN	DE000A0Z1690
Lifespan, final maturity	8 years, 31 December 2017
Stepped coupon	4% (2010), 6% (2011), 8% (2012)
6-month high (21 January 2014)	EUR 100.00
6-month low (20 June 2014)	EUR 87.00
Closing price 30 June 2014	EUR 89.00
*(price data according to Düsseldorf Stock Exchange)	

Key details for warrant bond II with warran	t*
Stock exchanges	Düsseldorf
WKN (German securities ID number)	A1KQ9S
ISIN	DE000A1KQ9Q9
Lifespan, final maturity	5 years, 31 December 2016
Coupon	5%
6-month high (7 March 2014)	EUR 96.00
6-month low (7 January 2014)	EUR 91.00
Closing price 30 June 2014	EUR 93.52

^{*(}price data according to Düsseldorf Stock Exchange)

Consolidated interim management report for the first half of the 2014 financial year

Fundamentals of the Group

1. Group structure

This report describes the business performance of the group (also referred to in the following as "Biofrontera" or the "Biofrontera Group") in the first half of the 2014 financial year. The group consists of a parent company, Biofrontera AG, and four wholly owned subsidiaries, Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH, Biofrontera Pharma GmbH, Biofrontera Development GmbH and Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH. All the companies are based at Hemmelrather Weg 201, 51377 Leverkusen.

The listed public limited company (AG in German) has a holding function in the group of companies and ensures the necessary financing for the group. Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH assumes responsibility for research and development tasks for the group and is the holder of patents and the approval for Ameluz®. Based on a licence agreement with Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH, Biofrontera Pharma GmbH is responsible for the manufacturing and also the further licensing and marketing of the Biofrontera Group's approved products.

Biofrontera Development GmbH and Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH were established as additional wholly owned subsidiaries of Biofrontera AG in December 2012. The purpose of both companies is to pursue the further development of pipeline products that are not part of Biofrontera's core business and therefore cannot be sufficiently financed within the framework of normal business development. To this end, the two projects BF-derm1 and BF-1 were purchased from Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH by Biofrontera AG, with purchase and transfer agreements dated 31 December 2012, and then transferred to the two new subsidiaries as part of a partner's investment, with the contribution agreement being effective from 31 December 2012. The product BF-derm1, which is intended for the treatment of severe chronic urticaria, is now the responsibility of Biofrontera Development GmbH, while the product BF-1, which is intended for the prophylactic treatment of migraines, is the responsibility of Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH. This outsourcing of development candidates has created a structure through which the financing of the further development of these two products can be uncoupled from the normal group financing.

2. Group strategy

The strategic objective of the **Biofrontera Group** is to establish the company as a pharmaceutical company specialising in the dermatological sector. In addition to the further expansion of business in Germany, the main priorities are to increase the range of indications for existing products and to expand international sales activities. In order to market the company's products outside Germany, agreements are concluded with suitable partners in the countries concerned.

Biofrontera was the first small German company to receive a centralised European drug approval for a complete-ly independently developed drug, Ameluz[®]. In the months prior to the market launch of Ameluz[®], the company's own sales division was systematically prepared, and since its launch in February 2012, Biofrontera has been selling Ameluz[®] to dermatologists in Germany through its own field sales team. The drug is distributed in other European Union member states, Israel and Switzerland by licensees.

Biofrontera, which was initially focused exclusively on research, has thus been successfully transformed into a specialist dermatological pharmaceutical company with a level of internal research and development expertise that is unusually high in the industry. For some time, in addition to further business expansion in Germany, Group development has focused on further business development in other European countries. To this end, Biofrontera is still looking for distribution partners in other countries, e.g. France or Italy.

It is also currently working extremely hard with a view to obtaining approval for Ameluz® in the USA. After the conclusion of the clinical trials and the completion of the approval package, Biofrontera is planning to submit the approval application ideally in the first quarter of 2015. A relevant phase III trial is currently being analysed. The pre-NDA meeting arranged by the FDA for early October 2014 is also highly significant in this respect. Once the approval has been issued, which is expected approximately 12 months after submission of the application, Biofrontera will have access to the largest healthcare market in the world. In parallel to this, Biofrontera is financing a clinical phase III trial to extend Ameluz® indications to include basal cell carcinoma. In the first instance, Biofrontera aims to have its approval extended to include the latter in Europe. This approval will open up considerable further market potential for Biofrontera. According to a market study recently published by Technavio, the international pharmaceutical market for actinic keratosis is expected to grow by approx. 8% annually, from its current level of USD 546 million to USD 942 million in 2020. However, in the same period, the pharmaceutical market for basal cell carcinoma is expected to grow at a phenomenal rate from approx. USD 236 million today to nearly USD 5 billion, because the availability of new pharmaceuticals (Ameluz® is mentioned in this context) will mean that fewer and fewer patients undergo operations.

3. Products

Ameluz® and BF-RhodoLED®

Ameluz® 78 mg/g Gel (development name: BF-200 ALA) received a first centralised European approval for the treatment of mild and moderate actinic keratoses on the face and scalp in December 2011. Actinic keratoses are superficial forms of skin cancer, and there is a risk that they can spread to deeper layers of skin. The combination of Ameluz® with light treatment is an innovative approach that constitutes a form of photodynamic therapy (PDT). The product information approved by the European approval authority, the EMA, explicitly mentions the significant superiority of Ameluz[®] to its direct competitor product in terms of removing all of a patient's keratoses. During the treatment, the active substance 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA) penetrates into the affected cells, assisted by an innovative nanoemulsion, where it is then converted into a second substance, particularly in tumorous cells. This second substance, protoporphyrin IX, serves as a photo-sensitiser that can be stimulated by a 10 to 15-minute exposure to high-intensity red light. The molecule stimulated in this way causes the formation of cytotoxic amounts of highly reactive oxygen, which induces tumour cell death via oxidation processes. In the phase III trials relevant to approval, Ameluz® showed excellent healing rates and demonstrated significant superiority to the approved comparison preparation, which was tested in parallel to it. In the first phase III trial, which involved the drug being combined with an LED lamp, all keratoses were completely removed for more than 96% of patients treated with Ameluz[®]. When counting individual keratosis lesions, no fewer than 99% were completely eradicated. In the second phase III trial relevant to approval, the effectiveness of Ameluz® was tested in comparison with an already approved standard medication. The results of the trial provided evidence that Ameluz® was clearly superior to the competitor drug available in Europe. Based on the average for all lamps used in the treatment, Ameluz® resulted in complete healing of actinic keratoses in 78% of patients, whereas the approved rival product achieved a healing rate of only 64%. With LED lamps, the healing rates were as high as 85% for Ameluz® and 68% for the competitor product. The side effect profile was comparable for both preparations. Furthermore, a recently published meta-analysis of all clinical trials for the medical treatment of actinic keratosis shows that, compared with all other drugs, Ameluz® constitutes by far the most effective form of treatment for mild and moderate actinic keratosis on the face and scalp¹.

As well as being extremely effective, Ameluz[®] also achieves excellent cosmetic results. Not only do the visible keratoses disappear: the healthy skin also looks better after the treatment. This is because PDT stimulates collagen synthesis in the dermis, which makes the skin appear younger and fresher.

With its central European approval, Ameluz[®] can be sold and distributed in all EU countries as well as in Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein. Distribution in Germany started on 1 February 2012.

Ameluz® is marketed by Desitin Arzneimittel GmbH in Denmark, Sweden and Norway, by BiPharma N.V.in Benelux, by Pelpharma Handels GmbH in Austria, by Spirit Healthcare Limited in England, by PHA Farmed in Slovenia, and by Allergan Pharmaceuticals in Spain. Louis Widmer SA has been granted the Ameluz® distribution licence for Switzerland and Liechtenstein, and the Ameluz® distribution licence for Israel has been granted to Perrigo Israel Agencies LTD. Both agreements were concluded in the reporting period. In these countries, it is necessary to obtain independent approval, which the above-mentioned distribution partners are currently preparing in cooperation with Biofrontera. Perrigo has already been able to complete the approval dossier and submit it to the competent pharmaceutical authority, the IMOH.

For France, Biofrontera is currently preparing its application to make Ameluz[®] reimbursable, with the assistance of a consultancy that specialises in this field.

Actinic keratosis is classified as a tumour that requires treatment, and the international treatment directives list photodynamic therapy as the gold standard for the removal of actinic keratosis, particularly for patients with large areas of keratoses. The latest statistics show that actinic keratosis is becoming a widespread disease, that 8 million people are affected in Germany alone, and that there is a marked upward trend in cases. Subclinical and mild actinic keratosis can develop into life-threatening squamous cell carcinomas, and this happens to the relevant lesions within two years on average. The fact that doctors are taking actinic keratosis more and more seriously is illustrated by the fact that actinic keratosis has been recognised as an occupational illness since summer 2013. Since then, occupational insurance associations have been obligated to cover the treatment costs of patients who have primarily worked outdoors for a long period and who fulfil certain criteria, for the duration of these patients' lives.

At present, actinic keratoses are treated using a wide range of methods. Lesions may be treated for weeks or months with topical creams¹, which are far less effective, or the degenerated skin may be removed by mechanical intervention (curettage) or freezing (cryotherapy), which usually leads to scar formation or permanent pigment changes.

At present, the market for topical creams is constantly growing and the use of legally questionable PDT formulations remains at a consistently high level. Because Ameluz® is already the market leader in the PDT proprietary

-

¹ Vegter & Tolley, Plos One 2014, June, Vol. 9 Issue 6

medicinal product market, with a market share in excess of 65%, Biofrontera expects there to be a significant increase in sales in future, as a result of taking market share from the above-mentioned sectors.

Through an intensive information campaign concerning the manufacturing and liability risks associated with the use of extemporaneous products, Biofrontera also intends to gain a greater market share at the expense of the extemporaneous product market. Using an awareness plan to provide further training to doctors, physicians with a preference for topical applications will be given a better understanding of PDT as a treatment option. Both marketing concepts are geared to long-term success.

The overall advantages of Ameluz® in terms of effectiveness, handling, user friendliness and cosmetic results, as well as the clear superiority of PDT in the treatment of actinic keratoses, will encourage dermatologists to focus on this treatment option in the future. Above all, this will be helped by the expansion of the range of indications to include basal cell carcinoma, which the company is currently striving to achieve, as most PDT treatments are for this indication, particularly in England and Spain.

Biofrontera has begun the implementation of a phase III trial in order to have the European approval extended to include the indication basal cell carcinoma (BCC). BCCs are the most common invasive tumours to affect humans and account for approximately 80% of all invasive white skin cancers. About 30% of all Caucasians develop at least one BCC in their lifetime, and cases are increasing rapidly worldwide due to increased exposure to UV light. Surgical removal is the most frequent treatment currently used in Germany but this can lead to clearly visible scarring, whereas treatment with photodynamic therapy (PDT), which is an alternative particularly in the treatment of thin BCCs, is not only a highly effective treatment method, but also produces excellent cosmetic results. In the clinical trial, Biofrontera will compare Ameluz® with the competitor product approved for BCC, Metvix®. It has already been demonstrated in the approval studies for the treatment of actinic keratosis that the overall cure rates for patients treated with Ameluz® were significantly higher than those for Metvix®-patients. Patient recruitment began in Germany in early February and in Britain in May 2014. The aim is to recruit 360 patients for the trial. Because patient recruitment has been slower than expected, Biofrontera has included 8 further centres in Germany in the trial, which has increased the number of trials involved to a total of 25. It is expected that the recruitment process will be completed this year, which will mean that the expansion of indications can probably take place in late 2015/early 2016.

In parallel to this, Biofrontera carried out a trial in which actinic keratoses covering entire areas, e.g. on the fore-head, the bald pate, the cheeks etc., were treated. In this trial, Ameluz® was combined with Biofrontera's PDT lamp, BF-RhodoLED®. This trial will supplement the existing phase III trials, which were carried out with a range of different PDT lamps, with data from Biofrontera's own lamp. By treating entire areas, additional safety data, and data on the PDT-related skin rejuvenation process, were obtained in order to facilitate a better analysis of the long-term effects of the treatment and to provide proof of its excellent cosmetic results. The clinical phase of the trial has now been completed. The final report is expected to be finished in September/October. Subsequently, the European approval should be extended to include broad area therapy of actinic keratosis.

Both of the phase I trials required by the American approval authority, the FDA, have already been completed, and the trial reports are currently being finalised. These reports will be included in the approval dossier that Biofrontera will discuss with the FDA at the pre-NDA meeting in early October. The two trials were initiated with a total of approximately 240 patients or subjects in order to obtain the safety data required for registration in the USA and add it to the European approval package for Ameluz®. Specifically, one of the trials is a sensitisation study, which determines the potential of Ameluz® to trigger allergies, and the other is a maximal use trial, which

tests the absorption in the blood of the active ingredient in Ameluz[®], aminolevulinic acid, in cases of treatment with the maximum quantity, i.e. the application of a complete tube to the defective skin.

BF-RhodoLED®

BF-RhodoLED® is a lamp designed for photodynamic therapy (PDT), and features LEDs emitting red light at a wavelength of approx. 635 nm. Light at this wavelength is ideally suited for PDT illumination with drugs containing ALA or methyl ALA. It is red but is still outside the warming infrared range. The BF-RhodoLED® lamp combines a controlled and consistent emission of light at the required wavelength with simplicity, user-friendliness and energy efficiency. The light intensity and fan power settings can be adjusted during a PDT treatment, in order to reduce any discomfort experienced during the treatment. No other lamp on the market offers comparable power and flexibility. BF-RhodoLED® has been CE-certified since November 2012 and is distributed throughout the EU.

Belixos®

The Belixos® range consists of a combination of active ingredients extracted from plants in a biocolloid formulation developed especially for this range of products. In October 2009, Belixos® cream was the first product to be launched in this range - it was initially available only from an online shop, but was later also sold in pharmacies. In February 2014, a new product was added to the Belixos range: Belixos Liquid for the scalp. In addition, Amazon recently began distributing Belixos® products.

Belixos® contains valuable ingredients extracted in a complex and very gentle process from the plant *Mahonia* aquifolium, a medicinal plant that has been used for centuries by North American Indians. The innovative biocolloid-based composition of Belixos® enables the well-balanced active ingredient combinations to spread very quickly and evenly in the upper skin layer.

The drug's sound scientific basis and specific combination of high-quality herbal ingredients should set new standards in the bitterly-contested medicinal cosmetics market. The combination of caring and regenerative effects should reduce the need for medical treatment and its side effects in people who suffer from itchiness or chronic ailments, such as neurodermitis or psoriasis.

Belixos® Cream soothes itching rapidly and reliably and is the ideal basic treatment for itchy, reddened and flaky skin. As well as mahonia, Belixos® Cream contains chamomile extract, which has soothing and healing properties, and tea plant extract, which is anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative.

Belixos® Liquid treats the problems of itchy and flaky scalp with a combination of anti-inflammatory mahonia, moisturising oats and zinc PCA complex, which effectively fights the causes of itching and flaky scalp. Zinc PCA also helps to regulate sebaceous buildup on the scalp, which is highly susceptible to greasiness. Urea moisturises the skin, and panthenol has soothing and regenerating properties.

Following the approval of Ameluz®, the resources of the sales force and of the marketing department have been focused exclusively on the marketing of Ameluz®. Thanks to convinced Belixos users, sales of the drug have remained at a consistent yet low level, but an increase in marketing activity was delayed until late 2013 for financial reasons. With the expansion of the Belixos® range, marketing efforts have been gradually realigned. The first of the new products, the scalp tonic Belixos® Liquid, was launched in early 2014, and in the course of the year, Belix-

os® Gel for acne and rosacea and Belixos® Protect, a daily cream with protective anti-ageing properties specifically for light-damaged skin, will complete the range.

4. Sales and marketing

In Germany, Ameluz® is marketed by Biofrontera's own sales force, while in other European countries it is promoted and sold with the help of marketing partners. It was launched in Germany on 1 February 2012. The new drug is available in Germany at a pharmacy retail price of just under EUR 200 per 2g tube. Distribution to public pharmacies takes place via pharmaceutical wholesalers, whereas hospital pharmacies are supplied directly. In addition to regular sales force visits to dermatologists, Biofrontera has presented Ameluz® at the major dermatological conferences in Germany since it was launched. The response from dermatologists has been extraordinarily positive. A comparison of 2012 and 2013 shows that Biofrontera has achieved a significant increase in sales of more than 38% in Germany. In the first half of 2014, sales in Germany increased by 21%.

Within a few months, Ameluz® became a market leader in Germany in terms of sales by pharmaceutical wholesalers to public pharmacies, overtaking the previous gold standard, Metvix®. The market share of tube-based Ameluz[®] is now consistently between 60% and 70%, with the remaining 30-plus % being held by the competitors, Metvix® and Alacare®. In spite of this, Ameluz® still only has a small share of the actinic keratosis market as a whole, because, according to Biofrontera's own estimate, only approximately 5% of patients are treated with proprietary medicinal products for photodynamic therapy (PDT). In order to persuade doctors to change their minds, it will be necessary to pursue a consistent information campaign. However, although PDT achieves by far the highest healing rates, the complexity of the treatment and the time required by medical practices to administer it have so far prevented significant market penetration. Hence, in parallel to this, Biofrontera has started to inform patients about the benefits of photodynamic therapy, albeit within a highly restrictive legal framework. instance, an information video this subject has been uploaded to (http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aK4a3R5kgMA, which is also available in English at http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2xE08DWC08o).

If approval is granted for basal cell carcinoma, this may help PDT to become a far more significant treatment approach. In other European countries in particular, this indication would seem to be a basic prerequisite for Ameluz to make a breakthrough, although both we and our sales partners initially underestimated its importance. This is because actinic keratosis is still inadequately treated in many countries and is considered only in connection with other carcinomas, such as basal cell carcinoma. Basal cell carcinoma is the commonest infiltrating tumour in humans: in the USA alone, there are approx. 2.8 million basal cell carcinoma treatments annually, and European figures are comparable. Because basal cell carcinoma is also triggered by lifelong UV exposure, this number is rapidly rising. Compared with the surgical procedures that are still most commonly used today, photodynamic therapy offers significant advantages, particularly for thin tumours.

Biofrontera has formed partnerships with other pharmaceutical companies to enable distribution in several European countries. As a result, the distribution of Ameluz® is managed in Spain by Allergan Pharmaceuticals, in Denmark, Sweden and Norway by Desitin Arzneimittel GmbH, in Benelux by Bipharma N.V., in Austria by Pelpharma Handels GmbH, in Switzerland and Liechtenstein by Louis Widmer S.A., and in England by Spirit Healthcare Limited. All contracts have been concluded in such a way that Biofrontera has received no down-payment, or only a modest down-payment, and the regional partners purchase Ameluz® from Biofrontera at a price that is coupled

to their own sales price. Biofrontera's share of the sale price varies significantly depending on the market conditions in a country and lies between 35% and 65% of net sales. In Great Britain, Biofrontera's share stands at 80%, but in return the company itself makes a contribution to the sales and marketing costs, with the result that it has recorded losses in this country to date. This contract is therefore set up for the very long term and allows Biofrontera to take over the distribution in its entirety in Great Britain. In Israel, Ameluz® is to be sold and distributed by Perrigo Israel Agencies LTD, and by Louis Widmer SA in Switzerland. Because neither company is covered by the central European drug approval, however, these companies must first apply for their own approval there. This application for approval in Israel has already been made, and the application for approval in Switzerland should be made in the near future. Up until now, sales in other European countries have lagged some way behind sales in Germany, because of more demanding market launch requirements by virtue of price and reimbursement agreements, some of which last for years, and because a larger proportion of treatments are for basal cell carcinoma, for which Ameluz® has not yet been approved.

Biofrontera has been selling the medical cosmetic Belixos[®], which was launched on the German market in the autumn of 2009, for a number of years. As well as being marketed through pharmacies, Belixos[®] can also be purchased from an online store operated by Biofrontera and from Amazon. In order to support marketing endeavours, a Belixos Facebook page, featuring discussions on the product and competitions, has been set up. With more than 3,000 "likes" to date, and an above-average interaction rate of just under 10%, this campaign has been a success. In addition to this advertising campaign aimed at the general public, the product is also promoted in discussions initiated by the dermatological field sales team. In particular, the addition of the hair tonic Belixos® LIQUID to the Belixos range has aroused considerable interest among doctors, because there is virtually no alternative for concomitant care when treating seborrhoeic eczema, a flaky scalp rash. In the long term, the Belixos® range should develop into a brand-based core business area that is not affected by uncertainties, risks and time limits associated with business activities involving innovative, patent-protected pharmaceuticals, which are very strictly regulated by state healthcare systems. Although a new medical cosmetic brand requires a lot of effort to establish and only very slow progress can be made to begin with, especially when there is no significant marketing budget, it can become a constant source of revenue for the company in the long run. In addition to Belixos® Liquid, which was launched in February 2014, in the course of the year, Belixos® Gel for acne and rosacea and Belixos[®] Protect, a daily cream specifically for light-damaged skin, will complete the range. In addition, a Facebook page for Belixos® has been online since the start of 2014 and is intended to raise the profile of the cosmetics range.

5. Further development projects

BF-derm1

BF-derm1 is a tablet for the treatment of severe chronic urticaria (hives). In its severe form, this illness cannot be treated adequately using currently available drugs. The tablet contains an active ingredient with a completely new action profile, and it can be used to soothe chronic urticaria that cannot currently be adequately treated. A phase Ila study has already been completed that has demonstrated the product's efficacy and also its limited side effects. As Biofrontera will focus on further developing Ameluz® in the coming years, it intends to look for a partner for the further development and funding of the phase III costs and the approval expenses. No efforts to this end have been undertaken yet for reasons of capacity, however.

BF-1

BF-1 is an active agent candidate from the Biofrontera drug portfolio. It is intended to be used for the prophylactic treatment of patients who frequently suffer from migraines. Because this product candidate no longer fits Biofrontera's dermatological product focus, the intention is to license it out after the initial development stages.

After the first results involving humans, which proved the excellent bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of the active agent, further preclinical investigations were carried out concerning the tissue distribution, metabolism and toxicology of the substance. These trials did not yield any critical findings, so there is no reason why further tests on humans should not be carried out. The chemical manufacturing process has been optimised, and the active ingredient required for clinical development has been synthesised, in accordance with the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) quality standards.

Patent and trademark developments since the end of 2013

ALA

In the first half of 2014, further official communications regarding the patent "Nanoemulsion" (PCT/EP2007/011404) in Europe, Japan, Canada, India and the USA were issued, and responses will be sent by the relevant deadlines.

The patent was issued in Japan on 13 June 2014 and in Belarus on 30 April 2014.

The filing of the application for this patent has also been initiated in the United Arab Emirates.

Migraines

A new PCT application (PCT/EP2014/051863) was submitted to the European Patent Office as the receiving office in January 2014 claiming priority for WO patent application no. PCT/EP2013/052060 of 1 February 2013.

All states that were contracting states at the time of the PCT application were named in this subsequent application.

Brand development

The European Community trademarks, "Gefühlt mir" and "Natural Heritage with Herbal Biocolloids" in two different versions, were published on 13 March 2014 in the European Community Trade Mark Bulletin for Community trademarks no. 2014/049, after the expiry of the objection period.

The trademarks have thus been legally registered and can be enforced against third parties.

Economic report

For the first half of the 2014 financial year for the Biofrontera group:

- 21% sales growth in Germany, but weak sales performance in other European countries
- EBIT: EUR -4.9 million (first half previous year: EUR -3.1 million)
- Consolidated profit/loss before tax: EUR 5.4 million (first half previous year: EUR -3.7 million)
- Undiluted earnings per share amounted to EUR -0.25 (first half previous year: EUR -0.22)

Achievement of objectives as at 30 June 2014:

Sales: Sales increased by approximately 21% in Germany. That is rather less than the desired increase for the whole year in German sales of approximately 30%. However, we stand by the forecast, as the sales relevant to planning from wholesale trade to pharmacists increased by 27% in the reporting period. The difference is a result of postponements in the wholesale sector arising from the varying stockkeeping levels. Only low sales were recorded in the rest of Europe, as our distribution partners are having to order ever greater production volumes with labelling in their respective national languages, and they only reorder them if these quantities are sold in the respective countries. In the first half of 2014, smaller quantities were delivered to our European partners than in the comparable period last year. All in all, sales performance outside Germany is still disappointing, but we expect significant improvements once the approval has been extended to include basal cell carcinoma.

<u>Belixos</u>[®]: the Belixos Liquid scalp tonic has been available at pharmacists and in Biofrontera's online shop since February, and Amazon has recently also started distributing it. Advertising on Facebook is being carried out at the same time in order to boost sales. Although sales of the Belixos range are visibly increasing following the start of the online advertising and are even exceeding the internal planning figures, they are so far of little relevance for the overall sales.

Preparation of the approval application for Ameluz® in the US: Three clinical trials have been commenced in preparation for the submission of the approval application file to the FDA (Food and Drug Administration). The clinical parts of two of the safety trials required by the FDA were completed towards the end of last year, and the trial reports are currently being finalised. The last patient was included in the phase III trial on the combination of Ameluz® with the PDT lamp BF-RhodoLED® for broad area therapy of actinic keratosis in early February, and the clinical part of this trial has now also been concluded. According to FDA rules, it is still necessary to reformat and jointly analyse all clinical results. The submission of the dossier is now envisaged for March 2015. The approval is expected to be issued about one year later. The pre-NDA (new drug application) meeting, at which significant issues relating to the approval dossier will be discussed again, has been arranged for early October 2014.

Sales and licensing agreements: Biofrontera concluded a licensing agreement with Perrigo Israel Agencies LTD for the approval application and the sale of Ameluz® in Israel in January 2014. Because of Israel's relatively small population, a not very sizeable down payment was agreed here, which will be paid in several instalments. Biofrontera will subsequently receive a transfer price for Ameluz® in the amount that is also obtained in Europe. In May 2014, another licensing agreement was concluded for Switzerland and Liechtenstein with Louis Widmer SA. Biofrontera has also agreed an appropriate down payment and a comparable transfer price with this licensee.

Financial position, cash flows and results of operations of the Biofrontera Group

Biofrontera Group profit/loss account (summary)

	30 June 2014 30 June 2013 in EUR thousand		Change in %
Sales revenue	1,217	1,385	(12)
Cost of sales	348	903	(61)
Research and development costs	2,063	1,164	77
General administrative costs	3,748	2,666	41
Other operating income and expenses	91	268	(66)
EBIT	(4,852)	(3,080)	(58)
Financial result	(561)	(618)	9
Profit/loss before income tax	(5,413)	(3,698)	(46)
Income tax	6	0	100
Profit/loss after tax	(5,419)	(3,698)	(47)

Sales

The Biofrontera Group recorded sales in the first half of the 2014 financial year of EUR 1,217 thousand (first half of 2013: EUR 1,385 thousand), corresponding to a decrease of 12%. Turnover from sales of our products in Germany increased by 21% to EUR 915 thousand (first half previous year: EUR 755 thousand), but sales in other countries fell to EUR 231 thousand (first half previous year: EUR 630 thousand). Furthermore, down payments of EUR 70 thousand were received in the first half of 2014 (first half previous year: 0).

Cost of sales

The cost of sales experienced a considerable reduction of 61% from EUR 903 thousand to EUR 348 thousand, resulting in an improvement in the gross profit from sales from EUR 482 thousand in the first half of 2013 to EUR 868 thousand in the first half of 2014. This was due both to systematic cost management and to the fact that expenses incurred in 2013 for the qualification of new production methods and producers, as required by the EMA, were not incurred again in 2014.

Research and development costs, distribution and administration costs

The research and development costs, which amounted to EUR 1,164 thousand in the first half of the 2013 financial year, rose to EUR 2,063 thousand in the first half of the 2014 financial year. This significant increase is in line with Biofrontera's strategy, which provides for investments in research and development for extending the range of indications (basal cell carcinoma and broad area therapy) and the approval application for Ameluz® in the US. By virtue of savings and of the postponement of some expenses, development costs are lower than predicted. Primarily because of the international market launches of Ameluz®, the distribution and administration costs increased as planned by EUR 1,082 thousand compared with the previous year to EUR 3,748 thousand.

Financial result

The interest expenses included in the financial result, which amount to EUR 594 thousand, are almost entirely the result of the interest payments for the two warrant bonds and the compounding of interest on them using the effective interest method. The payment of interest on warrant bond II for the 2013 calendar year was made in January 2014, and the payment of interest on warrant bond I for 2013 was made in December 2013.

Share capital

On 30 June 2014, the fully paid-up share capital of the parent company, Biofrontera AG, amounted to EUR 22,196,570.00. It was divided into 22,196,570 registered shares, each with a nominal value of EUR 1.00.

On 31 December 2013, the share capital amounted to EUR 17,753,168.00, and it was increased in the course of the first half of the 2014 financial year by EUR 4,443,402.00, divided into 4,443,402 registered shares (see the "Corporate actions" section).

The Biofrontera AG shares were listed on the regulated market of the Düsseldorf Stock Exchange in 2006. Likewise, approval was granted for trading on the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in August 2012. The company's shares are also traded on the computer trading system Xetra and all other German stock exchanges. On 3 June, the share was admitted to the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Since 3 June 2014, the shares have also been traded on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) of the London Stock Exchange.

The shares held by the shareholders as at 30 June 2014, based on the most recent compulsory disclosures of the shareholders, are as follows:

	30 June 2014 EUR
Maruho Deutschland GmbH, Düsseldorf The total share of voting rights is assigned to Maruho Co., Ltd, Osaka, Japan, in accordance with section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1 no. 1 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) via the company that it controls, Maruho Deutschland GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany.	4,467,143
MM Familien KG, Hanover, Germany MM Familien KG has a direct holding amounting to 200,497 voting rights, and 2,018,680 voting rights are indirectly assigned to it, pursuant to section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1, no. 1 WpHG, by Alternative Strategic Investments GmbH, Hanover. Moreover, all of the above voting rights are assigned to Dr Carsten Maschmeyer, pursuant to section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1 no. 1 WpHG, via the companies that he controls, MM Familien KG and Strategic Alternative Investment GmbH.	2,282,177
Professor Ulrich Abshagen, Germany Professor Abshagen has a direct holding of 52,293 voting rights, and he is indirectly assigned 976,056 voting rights, pursuant to section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1, no. 1 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act), by Heidelberg Innovation BioScience Venture II GmbH & Co.KG i.L. (in liquidation) via Heidelberg Innovation Asset Management GmbH & Co. KG, of which he is one the managing partners.	1,028,349
Universal-Investment-Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt	981,438
Professor Hermann Lübbert, Leverkusen	685,512
Free float	12,751,951
	22,196,570

Financial position and cash flows

The company's capital management body regularly reviews the equity ratio of the group and of the group subsidiaries. The management's objective is to ensure an appropriate equity base, within the framework of the expectations of the capital market and creditworthiness with respect to national and international business partners. The Management Board of the company ensures that all group companies have sufficient capital at their disposal in the form of equity and debt capital. Another round of financing took place in February 2014.

For more details of the development of the company's equity capital, see the equity reconciliation statement. The company carried out a capital market transaction during the period under review in order to secure financing for development costs.

Cash flow to operating activities improved only to an insignificant degree in comparison with the first half of 2013, from EUR -4,397 thousand to EUR -4,395 thousand.

Because of several disposals of the PDT lamps held in the company's own fixed assets, cash flow from investment activity improved by EUR 81 thousand from EUR -118 thousand to EUR -37 thousand.

In the first halves of both 2013 and 2014, capital increases were implemented in order to provide further financing for the company. Cash flow from financing activity rose, on account of higher net proceeds from capital increases, from EUR 8,218 thousand to EUR 13,518 thousand.

For more details of the consolidated cash flow statement, see Annexe 4.

The company was able to meet its payment obligations at all times, but may also be dependent on further financing measures in future.

According to IFRS, the group has positive equity amounting to EUR 5,223 thousand. As at 30 June 2014, Biofrontera AG had positive equity amounting to EUR 66,368 thousand.

Personnel details

Staff

As at 30 June 2014, 39 (31 December 2013: 38) employees worked for the Biofrontera Group. Of these, 13 were employed at Biofrontera AG (31 December 2013: 13), 5 at Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH (31 December 2013: 4) and 21 at Biofrontera Pharma GmbH (31 December 2013: 21). No staff are employed at Biofrontera Development GmbH or Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH.

Key developments

Corporate actions

A capital increase was implemented in the period under review. In a pre-emptive rights offering, all shareholders were given the opportunity to subscribe for new shares, with the possibility of an additional subscription. 4,438,292 new shares were issued in this process, and the increase was registered in the commercial register on 6 February 2014. The net revenue from the issue amounted to EUR 15.3 million.

By virtue of the exercise of warrants from the 2011/2016 warrant bond, further shares were issued with a nominal value of EUR 5,110 and registered in the commercial register on 13 March 2014.

Maruho

With an annual turnover of more than USD 600 million, Maruho Co., Ltd is the largest dermatological company in Japan. In February, Maruho acquired a significant quantity of shares through its German subsidiary as part of the capital increase implemented by Biofrontera, increasing its stake in Biofrontera to more than 20%. This is a clear indication of its strong long-term commitment to Biofrontera.

In a compulsory disclosure after exceeding the 20% threshold, Maruho communicated the objectives associated with this. According to this disclosure, Maruho aims to make a long-term strategic commitment to Biofrontera. Depending on the market trend, its intention is to purchase further shares in Biofrontera, although it certainly does not intend to exceed a 30% stake. Maruho does not aspire to exert any influence as to who occupies administrative or managerial positions. Nor does Maruho aspire to change Biofrontera's capital structure in any significant way.

For some time, Biofrontera has been having very constructive talks about future cooperation with Maruho. This includes projects in the area of sales, as well as that of development. There are no concrete results as yet, but they will be reported as soon as they have been achieved.

Supplementary report

Events of special significance since 30 June 2014

The licensee, Perrigo Company plc, submitted the Ameluz® approval dossier to the Israeli Ministry of Health (IMOH) in August 2014. After a provisional review, the IMOH has accepted Ameluz® for registration and has issued a provisional registration number, whereby the full approval process can begin.

The Management Board of Biofrontera AG has filed action for negative declaratory relief against a former supplier. For further details reference is made to the risk report.

Risk, opportunity and forecast report

Risk report

The consolidated interim financial statements have been drawn up on the assumption that the company will continue its business activity.

In addition to general risks, such as market developments and the competitive situation, the company is also subject to specific risks associated with the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors.

It is possible that the product Ameluz® will not prevail against other treatment options for actinic keratosis. Despite the better effectiveness of Ameluz®, doctors may revert to other products more often than expected because of the higher treatment costs associated with PDT, for which they frequently do not obtain any or sufficient remuneration from the healthcare systems.

There is no guarantee that the extensions currently pursued by the company of the approval of Ameluz® to basal cell carcinoma, broad area therapy or the US market will be obtained in the time frames sought by the company or even at all. A lack of success in the extension of the approval may have a significant adverse impact on the company's market opportunities and its stock market value.

There is no guarantee that a product will be launched on the market at the end of a project's development period – which is 6 to 10 years on average. A lack of success in the individual development steps could incur additional costs, cause project delays or even bring project development to a complete halt. It is possible that none, or only some, of the funds invested will be recouped in sales revenue.

The company tries to counterbalance these risks, to some extent, by selecting projects with relatively attractive risk profiles, by setting up a project control and reporting system, and by drawing on the outstanding professional expertise of the Supervisory Board members. The project control system represents the entire development process in detail right up to approval, and it makes it possible to analyse the effects that even small changes or delays, e.g. with clinical trials, can have on the development process and on its costs. Thus it is possible to observe the development risk associated with individual projects precisely, and to take the steps necessary to minimise the development risk. The risk associated with individual projects is also counterbalanced by the breadth of the project portfolio.

Because of the present loss situation and uncertainties relating to future business expansion, it is possible that the company's survival will depend substantially on further cash injections from shareholders or other capital investors.

In this context, investor acceptance for this industry and the associated risks as well as the balance-sheet anomalies and fiscal framework conditions are of great importance. The company cannot influence such circumstances, although they are of crucial importance for the company as long as it is in the development phase and reliant on the allocation of the necessary equity from the financial markets.

The company Biosynth AG, Switzerland, has asserted claims against Biofrontera AG following the termination of the businesss relationship. Biosynth was the supplier for active substance 5-aminolaevulinic acid hydrochloride (ALA) for Biofrontera group.

In the approval process, by the end of 2011, the responsible European agency, the European Medicines Agency (EMA), has defined quality standards for ALA used in Ameluz[®]. These are related to standards of GMP (Good Manufacturing Practice) demanded by the EMA in the production of ALA at Biosynth. The EMA allowed time limits to implement the various aspects of the required manufacturing standard.

Biosynth has up to now not fulfilled these standards.

Biofrontera was therefore forced to look for other suppliers. These are by now certified to manufacture ALA according to GMP. The transition was swift and occurred without supply problems.

In addition, the management of Biofrontera AG has filed an action for negative declaratory relief against Biosynth on 20 August 2014. With this law suit Biofrontera rejects claims of Biosynth, according to which a mutual venture exists with respect to production and marketing of Ameluz[®]. Even though the terminated business relationship was solely a supply agreement without any purchase obligation for Biofrontera group, Biosynth has – for the first time after the termination of the business relationship in 2014 – expressed such claims. It is Biofrontera's belief that Biosynth uses untenable claims to put Biofrontera under pressure in order to trigger material financial concessions. To safeguard the interests and the assets of the company and its shareholders appropriately, Biofrontera will take resolute actions against this.

Prior to claiming a mutual venture, Biosynth had initially, as outlined in the financial report of the first quarter of 2014, raised damage claims in the order of about EUR 0.6 million. No law suit has been filed based on this claim. According to Biofrontera's judgment this claim is equally unjustified. The risks generated by these claims are considered low, so that no reserve provisions were formed.

The risks existing in the group are described in detail in the risk report included in the published consolidated management report of 31 December 2013. No other significant changes in the risks described there have occurred as at the key date of 30 June 2014.

Risk management system

Biofrontera's management counters the risks existing in the group using a comprehensive risk management system. For a description of this system, please refer to the consolidated management report most recently published.

Forecast of key financial figures

In the forecast for 2014, turnover of EUR 5 to 6 million was expected. In Germany, sales in the first half were rather lower than planned, but Biofrontera still assumes that turnover in Germany will increase by approx. 30% compared with the previous year, and that the turnover will thus significantly increase again. However, it was also planned that we would receive income through licence payments from other European licensees amounting to EUR 1 million. In France in particular, because of the restrictive situation with the local health authorities, it is not currently possible to conclude a licensing agreement under economically acceptable conditions within the current year. Therefore, Biofrontera will apply for reimbursability itself and then decide whether or not a licensee will be necessary. Moreover, there are still significant planning uncertainties relating primarily to the speed of market penetration in the rest of Europe. The absence of the indication basal cell carcinoma represents a significantly greater impediment to sales performance in many European countries than either the company or any of the licensees had assumed at the beginning of the year. Hence, sales in the rest of Europe will continue to fall short of prior expectations in the second half of the year.

The conclusion of contracts with a US distribution partner and resulting down payments were not taken into consideration in the plans for 2014, but it is possible that a contract of this kind will be concluded, or a binding agreement will come into effect, with a licensee for the USA, in 2014, and that the first down payment will then be paid. In this case, the predicted turnover could be significantly increased. Should such income from license payment not become effective in 2014, we will fall short of the current sales prediction.

In order to extend the range of indications, and to receive approval for the USA, Biofrontera will continue to invest heavily in R&D and Regulatory Affairs. Because of some cost reducing measures that can be taken in the approval process, we currently expect a lower increase in our development costs.

Furthermore, Biofrontera does not plan to make any significant investments in tangible assets in 2014.

The financial result reflects the interest payments and compounding of interest using the effective interest method for the two warrant bonds. Therefore, this will not significantly change in 2014 compared with 2013.

Thomas Schaffer

Leverkusen, 22 August 2014

Biofrontera AG

Professor Hermann Lübbert

a. Ele

Page 22 of 38

Declaration pursuant to section 37y in conjunction with section 37w (2) no. 3 WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) – affidavit of the legal representatives

"We affirm that, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the applicable accounting principles for interim financial reporting and the principles of proper accounting, the consolidated interim financial statement gives a true and fair view of the financial position, cash flows and results from operations of the Group, and that the consolidated interim management report presents the business performance, including the business results and position, of the Group in such a way that a true and fair view is conveyed, and that the main opportunities and risks relating to the anticipated performance of the Group in the remainder of the financial year are described."

Leverkusen, 22 August 2014

Biofrontera AG

Professor Hermann Lübbert

(e. l- le

Thomas Schaffer

Consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2014

Assets

in EUR	30 June 2014	31 Dec 2013
Non-current assets		
Tangible assets	392,797.60	467,323.63
Intangible assets	2,904,997.67	3,202,208.62
	3,297,795.27	3,669,532.25
<u>Current assets</u>		
Current assets		
Trade receivables	169,710.75	578,410.60
Other financial assets	1,021,172.42	767,224.80
Cash and cash equivalents	12,019,252.43	2,933,578.47
	13,210,135.60	4,279,213.87
Other current assets		
Inventories		
Raw materials and supplies	655,523.51	819,912.99
Unfinished products	425,346.66	141,723.44
Finished products and merchandise	503,480.70	623,559.71
Income tax reimbursement claims	21,302.37	22,280.71
Other assets	61,036.83	80,908.61
	1,666,690.07	1,688,385.46
	14,876,825.67	5,967,599.33
Total assets	18,174,620.94	9,637,131.58

Liabilities

in EUR	30 June 2014	31 Dec 2013
Equity		
Subscribed capital	22,196,570.00	17,753,168.00
Capital reserve	76,344,486.86	65,598,778.57
Loss carried forward	(87,899,306.51)	(79,832,687.98)
Net loss for the year	(5,418,713.78)	(8,066,618.53)
	5,223,036.57	(4,547,359.94)
Long-term liabilities		
Long-term financial liabilities	10,889,383.86	12,030,950.38
Current liabilities Current financial liabilities		
Trade payables	534,586.95	713,098.17
Short-term financial debt	415,087.14	435,750.00
Other financial liabilities	21.465,57	22,608.18
	971,139.66	1,171,456.35
Other current liabilities		
Income tax provisions	0.00	11,863.00
Other provisions	1,007,220.08	879,226.67
Other current liabilities	83,840.77	90,995.12
	1,091,060.85	982,084.79
	2,062,200.51	2,153,541.14
Total liabilities	18,174,620.94	9,637,131.58

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the first half of 2014

in EUR	1 January - 30 June 2014	1 January - 30 June 2013
Sales revenue	1,216,529.60	1,385,150.17
Cost of sales	(348,231.35)	(903,262.06)
Gross profit from sales	868,298.25	481,888.11
Operating expenses:	000,270.23	401,000.11
Research and development costs	(2,063,034.48)	(1,163,519.52)
General administrative costs	(3,748,004.54)	(2,666,377.57)
	(5,811,039.02)	(3,829,897.09)
Loss from operations	(4,942,740.77)	(3,348,008.98)
Other income (expenses):		
Financial result	(561,070.31)	(617,914.71)
Other income (expenses), net	91,221.30	268,113.95
	(469,849.01)	(349,800.76)
Profit/loss before income tax	(5,412,589.78)	(3,697,809.74)
Income tax	6,124.00	0.00
Profit or loss for the period	(5,418,713.78)	(3,697,809.74)
Expenses and income not included in profit/loss		
Subsequent valuation of financial assets available for sale	0.00	0.00
Other expenses and income not included in profit/loss	0.00	0.00
Total result for the period	(5,418,713.78)	(3,697,809.74)
Undiluted (= diluted) earnings per share	(0.25)	(0.22)

Consolidated cash flow statement for the first half of 2014

	1 January - 30 June 2014	1 January - 30 June 2013
	EUR	EUR
Cash flows from operations		
Total result for the period	(5,418,713.78)	(3,697,809.74)
Adjustments to reconcile net profit or loss for the period with		
cash flow into operations:	E (1 070 01	(17.014.71
Financial result	561,070.31	617,914.71
Depreciation (Gaine) / Jacobs and disposal of pagets	409,484.90	360,503.20
(Gains) / losses on disposal of assets	2,632.00	0.00
Non-cash expenses and income	(115,901.87)	(587,740.77)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Trade receivables	408,699.85	(78,357.04)
Other assets and income tax assets	(233,097.50)	
Inventories	845.27	(223,644.32)
		(421,158.84)
Trade payables Provisions	(178,511.22)	(161,060.18)
Other liabilities	176,574.53	(221,844.34)
	(8,296.96) (4,395,214.47)	16,132.54 (4,397,064.78)
Net cash flow into operations:	(4,393,214.41)	(4,391,004.10)
Cash flows from investment activities:		
Purchase of intangible and tangible assets	(85,524.50)	(125,556.99)
Interest received	3,326.11	7,985.39
Revenue from the sale of intangible and tangible assets	45,144.58	0.00
Net cash flow from (into) investment activities	(37,053.81)	(117,571.60)
	(5.755515.7	(,0,
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Proceeds from the issue of shares	15,333,626.29	7,607,034.75
Payouts from the repurchase of own warrant bonds	(199,038.00)	0.00
Interest paid	(454,416.67)	(435,756.83)
Increase / (decrease) in long-term financial debt	(1,141,566.52)	631,540.86
Increase / (decrease) in short-term financial debt	(20,662.86)	415,087.14
Net cash flow from financing activities	13,517,942.24	8,217,905.92
Net increase (decrease) in cash		
and cash equivalents	9,085,673.96	3,703,269.54
Cook and each equivalents at heginning of yourself	2 022 570 47	2 266 222 50
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	2,933,578.47	3,366,232.58
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	12,019,252.43	7,069,502.12
Composition of financial resources at end of period:		
Cash and bank balances and cheques	12,019,252.43	7,069,502.12
		.,00,,002,112

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the first half of 2014

	Ordinary shares Number	Subscribed capital EUR	Capital reserve EUR	Accumulated loss EUR	Total EUR
Account balance at 31 December 2012	16,143,168	16,143,168.00	59,595,506.32	(79,832,687.98)	(4,094,013.66)
Capital increase ¹	1,610,000	1,610,000.00	5,962,952.50	0.00	7,572,952.50
Cost of capital procurement	0	0.00	(8,798.25)	0.00	(8,798.25)
Changes in the capital reserve associated with the sale of own					
Warrant Bonds I and II	0	0.00	81,551.00	0.00	81,551.00
Changes in the capital reserve resulting from transaction costs					
in connection with the sale of own Warrant Bonds I and II	0	0.00	(518.00)	0.00	(518.00)
Net loss	0	0.00	0.00	(3,697,809.74)	(3,697,809.74)
Account balance on 30 June 2013	17,753,168	17,753,168.00	65,630,693.57	(83,530,497.72)	(146,636.15)
Capital increase ¹⁾	0	0.00	50,223.50	0.00	50,223.50
Cost of capital procurement	0	0.00	(82,138.50)	0.00	(82,138.50)
Changes in the capital reserve associated with the sale of own					
Warrant Bonds I and II	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Changes in the capital reserve resulting from transaction costs					
in connection with the sale / repurchase of own Warrant Bonds					
I and II	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Net loss for the year	0	0.00	0.00	(4,368,808.79)	(4,368,808.79)
Account balance on 31 December 2013	17,753,168	17,753,168.00	65,598,778.57	(87,899,306.51)	(4,547,359.94)
Capital increase ¹⁾	4,443,402	4,443,402.00	11,160,472.00	0.00	15,603,874.00
Cost of capital procurement	0	0.00	(215,725.71)	0.00	(215,725.71)
Changes in the capital reserve associated with the repurchase					
of own Warrant Bonds I	0	0.00	(198,939.00)	0.00	(198,939.00)
Changes in the capital reserve resulting from transaction costs					
in connection with the repurchase of own Warrant Bonds I	0	0.00	(99.00)	0.00	(99.00)
Net loss for the year	0	0.00	0.00	(5,418,713.78)	(5,418,713.78)
Account balance on 30 June 2014	22,196,570	22,196,570.00	76,344,486.86	(93,318,020.29)	5,223,036.57

¹ including increases in the capital reserve as a result of the 2010 stock option programme, by EUR 54,522 in the first half of 2014, and by EUR 38,152.50 in the first half of 2013.

<u>Selected notes on the consolidated interim financial statement as at</u> 30 June 2014

1 Information about the company

Biofrontera AG (www.biofrontera.com), with its head office at Hemmelrather Weg 201, 51377 Leverkusen, Germany, registered in the Commercial Register of Cologne District Court, Department B under no. 49717, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH, Biofrontera Pharma GmbH, Biofrontera Development GmbH and Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH, research, develop and market dermatological products. The main focus is on the discovery, development and distribution of dermatological drugs and dermatologically-tested cosmetics for the treatment and care of diseased skin. Biofrontera AG (hereinafter also the "company") pursues this goal along with its subsidiaries. All the companies together form the "Biofrontera Group".

The Biofrontera Group was the first German startup company to receive a centralised European drug approval for an independently developed drug, Ameluz[®]. In December 2011, Ameluz[®] was approved for the treatment of mild and moderate actinic keratosis. Two further clinical development projects, one dermatological project and one for the prevention of migraines, are in the pipeline but are not being actively pursued at the present time. In addition, a range of cosmetic products is to be expanded; the first product in this range, Belixos[®], was launched in the autumn of 2009. In early 2014, a Belixos[®] hair tonic was launched, and a Belixos[®] gel is to be launched during 2014.

The product Ameluz® (development name BF-200 ALA), which was approved at the end of 2011, has been tested in one phase II and two phase III clinical trials for the treatment of actinic keratosis. Ameluz® is a combination of the active agent, aminolevulinic acid (ALA), and a nanoemulsion (BF-200), which gives ALA chemical stability and enables it to penetrate the skin effectively. The clinical results regarding the treatment of actinic keratosis have shown its clear superiority to the competitor product against which it was compared in the phase III trials. An application for centralised European approval was submitted on 1 September 2010, and this approval was granted by the European Commission on 16 December 2011. Ameluz® has been sold in Germany since February 2012 and in several other European countries since autumn 2012.

In November 2012, Biofrontera's BF-RhodoLED® PDT lamp received pan-European approval for use as a medical device and has since been sold in parallel with Ameluz®.

The project BF-derm1 is not currently being actively developed, but it has been tested in a three-part phase II trial for the treatment of chronic, antihistamine-resistant urticaria (hives). The trial demonstrated the good effect of the drug, which reduced the intensity of urticaria rashes and itching, as well as reducing the amount of drowsiness-inducing antihistamines required by patients.

The third project (BF-1) is an innovative substance that is intended to be used for migraine prophylaxis. The substance was administered to healthy subjects for the first time towards the end of 2006, by intravenous injection and in tablet form. The company received the results of this trial in early 2007. They show that the substance is almost completely absorbed in the gut, and that it takes around two days for 50% of the substance to be broken down or excreted. These results are an excellent starting point for developing the sub-

stance to be administered in tablet form. As this project has huge market potential but is not related to the field of dermatology, it is to be licensed out for further development at the latest at the end of the phase II clinical trials.

The intention is to finance the development of both BF-derm1 and BF-1 independently of Biofrontera's normal budget, using funds that are specifically sought for and directly allocated to the development of these products. For this reason, both projects were acquired from Biofrontera AG and allocated as a partner's investment to the two newly-founded subsidiaries, Biofrontera Development GmbH and Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH, in December 2012. The product BF-derm1, which is intended for the treatment of severe chronic urticaria, is now the responsibility of Biofrontera Development GmbH, while the product BF-1, which is intended for the prophylactic treatment of migraines, is the responsibility of Biofrontera Neuroscience GmbH. This outsourcing of development candidates has created a structure through which the financing of the further development of these two products can be uncoupled from the normal group financing. As a result, the short-term financial plans can focus on the market launch of Ameluz® in North America and the extension of its range of indications, as well as the establishment of the group as a specialist pharmaceutical company.

2 Accounting and valuation principles

Pursuant to the provisions of section 37y of the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz - WpHG) in conjunction with section 37w WpHG, the half-yearly financial report comprises an abridged consolidated interim financial statement, a consolidated interim management report, and an affidavit of the legal representatives that corresponds to the specifications of section 297(2) sentence 3 and section 315(1) sentence 6 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The half-yearly financial statement of Biofrontera AG from 1 January 2014 to 30 June 2014 has been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) for "Interim Financial Reporting" pursuant to IAS 34, as applicable in the European Union. In the opinion of the Management Board, the audited half-yearly financial statements include all the business transactions that are necessary for the presentation of the financial position, cash flows and results of operations for the periods ending on 30 June 2014 and 2013.

These interim financial statements do not include all the information and data that is required to prepare annual financial statements. The interim financial statements should therefore be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for 2013.

In the context of the preparation of the consolidated interim financial statements, the Management Board has to make estimates and assumptions that influence the use of accounting principles in the Group and the disclosure of the assets and liabilities as well as of the income and expenses. The actual amounts may deviate from these estimates. The results achieved in the first half of the 2014 financial year do not permit any forecasts to be made concerning the further progress of business performance.

Concerning the accounting, valuation and consolidation principles used in the preparation of the consolidated interim financial statement of Biofrontera AG, which are essentially unchanged, and the information

on the companies included in the consolidated statement, please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statement of 31 December 2013. Costs of capital procurement offset against equity are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The consolidated interim financial statements do not contain any segment information, as no business or geographical segments subject to reporting requirements have been identified.

Due to the special importance of the research and development costs, these are shown as a separate section in the profit and loss account.

This interim financial statement of Biofrontera AG was approved for publication by resolution of the Management Board in August 2014.

3 Deferred taxes

As at 30 June 2014, the company has a considerable amount of tax loss carryforwards.

In accordance with the tax regulations applicable in Germany, these tax loss carryforwards are non-forfeitable and can be offset against the future taxable profits of the company.

The existing tax loss carryforwards were assessed as legally binding in the tax audit in the first half of 2008 and in the final assessment up to the 2003 assessment period. In addition, another audit was conducted for the years from 2003 to 2009 and the existing tax loss carryforwards were also assessed as legally binding.

Nevertheless, no deferred tax assets from temporary differences or from tax loss carryforwards have been recognised in the balance sheet. This decision has been taken against the background that, from the current perspective, the Management Board still does not regard it as certain that the deferred tax claims can be realised in the next few years.

In accordance with IAS 12.34, the recognition of the deferred tax claims has therefore been dispensed with.

4 Employee stock option programme 2010

In order not to be at a disadvantage in the future regarding staff recruitment and retention, the company must continue to be able to offer share and/or securities-based remuneration. Moreover, in accordance with the German act concerning the appropriateness of management board remuneration, such schemes must be linked to the long-term success of the company. As the stock option programme approved by the Annual General Meeting of the company on 24 May 2007 could not be used, the Annual General Meeting held on 2 July 2010 granted the Management Board and Supervisory Board the authorisation to issue, within the next 5 years, up to 839,500 options to directors and employees. Further provisions governing this action were specified in the invitation to the Annual General Meeting and are available on the company's website. The issue of a first tranche of these options is described in the consolidated financial statements of 31 December 2010. The second tranche took place in the 2011 calendar year and is noted in the consolidated financial statements of 31 December 2011. A further 116,500 option rights (third tranche) were issued in the first half of 2012 at an exercise price of EUR 3.30 or EUR 4.09 each. On 2 September 2013, 179,500 options

(fourth tranche) were issued with an exercise price of EUR 3.373. In a further tranche (fifth tranche), on 2 April 2014 159,350 options were issued with an exercise price of EUR 3.43 each. On account of the vesting period involved, none of these can be exercised or have lapsed as yet. There were therefore still 181,350 options outstanding on 30 June 2014. In the period under review, the expenditure booked was EUR 55 thousand (30 June 2013: EUR 38 thousand).

5 Shares / earnings per share

The earnings per share are calculated in accordance with IAS 33 on the basis of the half-yearly results of the Biofrontera Group as well as on the basis of the ordinary shares outstanding during the relevant periods in 2014 and 2013.

	1st half-year as at 30 June 2014	1st half-year as at 30 June 2013
Ordinary shares	22,196,570.00	17,753,168.00
Net loss for the year in EUR	(5,418,713.78)	(3,697,809.74)
Earnings per share in EUR, related to net		
loss for the year	(0.25)	(0.22)

The increase in the number of shares in comparison with the previous year can be attributed to a capital increase from authorised capital. The subscribed capital was increased on 6 February by 4,438,292 shares (cf. ad hoc announcements of 4 February 2014). A further capital increase was implemented on the basis of the conditional increase in the share capital resolved on 10 May 2011. Subscription shares from the exercise of warrants from the 2011/2016 warrant bond were issued with a nominal value of EUR 5,110 and registered in the commercial register on 13 March 2014.

6 Notes on repurchases of bonds

As a result of the repurchase of 15,000 warrant bonds I (2009/2017) of Biofrontera AG at a price of EUR 100 per unit, the fees paid and the transaction costs for the repurchase are to be allocated in accordance with IFRS to the borrowed capital and equity capital components at the time of the transaction. Taking the transaction costs into consideration, the borrowed capital component was reduced by EUR 1,301 thousand and the equity capital component was reduced by EUR 199 thousand in this process.

7 Reporting on financial instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the group faces interest rate changes and credit risks as well as liquidity risks which may have an effect on financial position, cash flows and results of operations.

Interest risk: the risk associated with interest changes is considered insignificant because, as a rule, the existing interest modalities for the relevant financing of the Biofrontera Group can be adjusted to market conditions in the short and medium term.

Credit risk: the Group faces a credit risk if transaction partners cannot fulfil their obligations within the normal payment deadlines. On the balance sheet, the maximum non-payment risk is represented by the book value of the relevant financial asset. The progress of claims is monitored, so that any possible non-payment risks can be identified early and appropriate steps can be taken. No individual value adjustments were made in the first half of 2014 (31 December 2013: EUR 46 thousand).

Financial instruments measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet can be classified according to the following measurement hierarchy, which reflects the extent to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1: fair value measurements using prices listed on active markets (not adjusted) of identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: fair value measurements using input data for the asset or liability that are either directly observable (as prices) or indirectly observable (derived from prices), but which do not constitute listed prices pursuant to Level 1.

Level 3: fair value measurements using input data for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable input data).

Biofrontera only has financial instruments at levels one and two. No reclassifications between level 1 and 2 were carried out during the first half of 2014. All the financial assets measured at fair value and listed in the following are classified as level 1. With regard to financial liabilities, the full amount (EUR 11,304 thousand; 31 December 2013: EUR 12,467 thousand) is allocated to level 2. This involves financial debt arising from the two warrant bonds.

The financial assets and liabilities can be broken down into assessment categories with the following book values:

Financial assets on	Fair value	Book values					
30 June 2014 (EUR)		Cash and cash equivalents	Credits and re- ceivables	Financial instru- ments recog- nised at fair value in profit and loss (exclud- ing "held for trading")	Financial assets avail- able for sale	TOTAL BOOK VALUES	
Liquid assets	12,019,252	12,019,252				12,019,252	
Receivables from goods and services	169,711		169,711			169,711	
Other short-term financial receivables and assets	1,021,172		1,021,172			1,021,172	
TOTAL	13,210,135	12,019,252	1,190,883	0	0	13,210,135	

Financial liabilities	Fair value	Book values				
on 30 June 2014 (EUR)		Other liabilities	Financial instru- ments recognised at fair value in profit or loss (excluding "held for trading")			TOTAL BOOK VALUES
Financial liabilities (short-term)	415,087	415,087				415,087
Liabilities from goods and services	534,587	534,587				534,587
Other financial liabilities (short-term)	21,466	21,466				21,466
Other financial liabilities (long-term)	10,889,384	10,889,384				10,889,384
TOTAL	11,860,524	11,860,524	0	0	0	11,860,524

Financial assets on	Fair value			Book values		
31 December 2013 (EUR)		Cash and cash equivalents	Credits and receivables	Financial in- struments recognised at fair value in profit or loss (excluding "held for trad- ing")	Financial assets available for sale	TOTAL BOOK VALUES
Liquid assets	2,933,578	2,933,578				2,933,578
Receivables from goods and services	578,411		578,411			578,411
Other short-term financial receivables and assets	767,225		767,225			767,225
TOTAL	4,279,214	2,933,578	1,345,636	0	0	4,279,214

Financial liabilities	Fair value			Book values		
on 31 December 2013 (EUR)		Other liabilities	Financial in- struments recognised at fair value in profit or loss (excluding "held for trad- ing")			TOTAL BOOK VALUES
Financial liabilities (short-term)	435,750	435,750				435,750
Liabilities from goods and services	713,098	713,098				713,098
Other financial liabilities (short-term)	22,608	22,608				22,608
Other Financial liabilities (long-term)	12,030,950	12,030,950				12,030,950
TOTAL	13,202,406	13,202,406	0	0	0	13,202,406

Liquidity risk: refinancing of the Biofrontera group companies is generally carried out on a central basis by Biofrontera AG. There is a risk in this regard that the liquidity reserves may be insufficient to fulfil the financial obligations on the due date. As of 30 June 2014, liquid assets and cash equivalents of EUR 12,019 thousand (31 December 2013: EUR 2,934 thousand) were available to cover the liquidity requirements.

8 Members of the Management Board

The members of the Management Board are:

- Prof. Hermann Lübbert, chairman of the Management Board (Chief Executive Officer)
- Thomas Schaffer, member of the Management Board (Chief Financial Officer)

In the first half of 2014, the remuneration of the members of the Management Board amounted to EUR 324 thousand (first half of 2013: EUR 296 thousand).

9 Members of the Supervisory Board

As a result of the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting held on 10 May 2011, the Supervisory Board has consisted of the following members since 10 May 2011, with these members acting as representatives of the shareholders:

Jürgen Baumann	Chairperson of the Supervisory Board, expert in the field of sales and marketing of pharmaceuticals, resident in Monheim, Germany
Prof. Bernd Wetzel	Deputy chair of the Supervisory Board, advisor, resident in Biberach/Riss, Germany
Dr Ulrich Granzer	Owner and managing director of Ulrich Granzer Regulatory Consulting & Services, resident in Krailling near Munich, Germany
Ulrike Kluge	Managing partner of klugeconcepts GmbH, Cologne; resident in Cologne, Germany
Andreas Fritsch	Sales/strategy manager of Alfred Wieder AG, Pullach, and managing director of Unternehmensberatung Fritsch, Seefeld; resident in Seefeld, near Munich, Germany

In the first half of 2014, the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board amounted to EUR 56 thousand (first half of 2013: EUR 56 thousand).

Managing director of Kopernikus AG in Zurich, Switzerland, resident in Zurich,

10 Transactions with related persons

Switzerland

Alfred Neimke

During the period under review, additional advisory services were called on by the company from two members of the Supervisory Board, Dr Ulrich Granzer and Ms Ulrike Kluge. These services went beyond the scope of normal Supervisory Board activity. Dr Granzer assisted the company with key issues relating to the preparation of the application for approval by the supervisory authorities. During the course of the first half of the 2014 financial year, advisory services amounting to EUR 0 (first half previous year: EUR 0) were provided by Granzer Regulatory Consulting & Services. Accounts payable to Granzer Regulatory Consulting & Services

amounted to EUR 6.3 thousand on 30 June 2014 (31 December 2013: EUR 6.1 thousand). Ms Kluge advises the company in the area of business development. In the first half of 2014, the consultancy services amounted to EUR 5.6 thousand (first half previous year: EUR 0), and the accounts payable to klugeconcepts GmbH as at 30 June 2014 amounted to EUR 3.8 thousand (31 December 2013: EUR 4.4 thousand).

The amounts stated here do not include statutory VAT at the current rate of 19%. The underlying consultancy contracts were approved in consideration of the statutory provisions.

11 Significant events since the interim balance sheet date

The licensee, Perrigo Company plc, submitted the Ameluz® approval dossier to the Israeli Ministry of Health (IMOH) in August 2014. After a provisional review, the IMOH has accepted Ameluz® for registration and has issued a provisional registration number, whereby the full approval process can begin.

The Management Board of Biofrontera AG has filed action for negative declaratory relief against a former supplier. For further details reference is made to the risk report.

Leverkusen, 22 August 2014

Professor Hermann Lübbert

(1. C-les

Chairman of the Management Board

Thomas Schaffer

Chief Financial Officer

Editor

Biofrontera AG

Hemmelrather Weg 201 D-51377 Leverkusen, Germany

Tel.: + 49 (0) 214 87 63 2 0 Fax: + 49 (0) 214 87 63 2 90 Email: info@biofrontera.com

www.biofrontera.com